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Coventry’s History to 1250
When dinosaurs roamed the land 

COVENTRY and Warwickshire’s modern history, the last millennium, are relatively recent times compared to the millions of years that preceded it.

The earliest known datable rock outcrop in the county lies on the north-east side of the large quarries on the west of Nuneaton.

This Pre-Cambrian rock consists of volcanic ash and was laid down over 600 millions years ago, when the district was convulsed by volcanoes.

From the following Cambrian period the country lay under the sea, a sea which from fossil records contained shellfish, worms and armoured trilobites, woodlouse look-a-likes which skimmed along the sea-bed scavenging food.

The Devonian Period (360-408 million years ago) can be found represented in rocks in the north of the county and were laid down in a period when north Warwickshire consisted of wide river deltas, home to large bottom feeding armoured fish.

Rock from this period is called old red sandstone and was the main stone used in the mediaeval buildings of north Warwickshire.

In the Carboniferous period (296-360 million years ago) the south of the county was deltaic mudflats and north of Coventry lay swamp forest, full of trees, ferns and abundant life, including dragonflies with six-foot wing spans. The late Carboniferous into the Permain period followed with a change in landscape, the Coventry and Kenilworth areas becoming closer to the sea with sand dunes, rivers and lagoons and even desert.

In the north of the county the land was shaken by earthquakes as rock systems split and were pushed in all directions.

At this time paddling in and out of the lagoons was a flesh- eating, armour-plated lump of an amphibian known as Dasyceps bucklandi, this rarity is only found in Warwickshire.

Also skipping the sandunes was Pelycosaur Ophiacodon, a flesh-eating reptile-cum-mammal again only found in this county.

More notable periods are the Triassic, Jurrassic and Cretaceous periods, when most of the county was covered by a clear shallow sea, inhabited by the long-necked, four-paddled Plesiosaur and the huge dolphin-like Ichthyosaur, swimming in a beautiful warm sea teeming with other life, like the well known Amomonite, Belemite and a huge variety of strange fish.

This brings us up to the Tertiary period beginning 65 million years ago, when the sea retreated and the county became mainly temperate, interrupted by three glacial periods and a sub-tropical period when crocodiles and hippopotamus swam in what was to become the River Avon and other areas such as the centre of Coventry.

In the less than sunnier climes of the glacial periods when Glacial Lake Harrison stretched over most of the county the area was a barren wilderness.

The glacier came forth, then retreated, then things improved slightly in the period called the Third Glaciation when the ice cap didn’t cover the county but left it as open tundra, over which roamed herds of bison and reindeer, horse, giant ox, hyena, wolves, bears, woolly Rhinoceroses and mammoths.

As the ice retreated down the river valleys gravel was laid down and large boulders were left lying around the landscape, some survived such as the Radford Boulder which marked a spring in Radford, Coventry, until it was unceremoniously dynamited before the First World War.

The rise of Coombe Abbey 

	


COOMBE Abbey near Coventry was built on land given by Richard de Camville to the Cistercian brothers who moved in on the day that the foundation charter was laid on the altar on July 10, 1150.

Other Cistercian orders in the county were at Merevale and Stoneleigh in 1154 and a small nunnery, founded at Pinley, now a district of Coventry.

The Cistercians rejected wealth yet became very wealthy through keeping sheep which supplied the local wool trade. During their farming ventures they managed to depopulate a large number of villages to increase their grazing area and their profit.

Disputes arose as Coombe claimed rights to more land. one was in 1226 when the Abbot of Coombe was in dispute with the Preceptor of the Knights Templar as to grazing rights on Wolvey Heath.

The abbot won his case and the templars’ sheep fold and fences were destroyed allowing Coombe to graze 1,000 sheep there.

The order of the Knights Templars (Poor Knights of Christ and of the Temple of Solomon) originated as a military order to protect pilgrims in the Holy Land.

Balsall (later Temple Balsall) was given the order in the reign of Henry III by Roger de Mowbray who, incidentally, once owned much of the lordship of Coombe.

Augustinian monks found a home at Kenilworth where a church and monastery was founded by the castle’s builder, Geoffrey de Clinton in 1122.

Geoffrey enriched the house with manors including Salford Priors, King’s Newnham and the church of Wootton. Geoffrey’s son, also called Geoffrey, gave more land including Packington and the mill at Guy’s Cliff.

This was the way of things for all churches, land and property granted by lords and ladies, enriching the church and ensuring their place in heaven.

There were exceptions, namely the order of the Franciscans who followed the poor and pious life of St Francis of Asissi. They lived, died and were buried in their rough woollen robes.

The Franciscans, also known as the Greyfriars, established a house in Coventry in 1234. They never gained the wealth of large countryside-based monastic houses but became very popular among the wealthy as an alternative to those larger houses which many thought were losing their way

Founding a new religion  

Before the ministry of St Augustine and St Chad, Warwickshire was a land of pagans.

In many books we are given the impression that pagan Saxon England was converted within 50 years, this isn’t true. The process took much longer.

Edicts can be found, such as one dating from the reign of Canute (1016-1035), which states it is heathen practice to worship the sun, the moon, fire or flood, wells or stones or any kind of tree.

Such edicts continued to be issued as late as the 13th century in an attempt to extinguish paganism. Most conversion in the county was done by small groups of monks.

They probably used the well in the village, no doubt a pre-christian sacred well, for baptisms into the new faith. Monastic houses and chapels, first of wood, then later of stone, were built in places such as Coventry, Stratford, Warwick, Southam, Coleshill and Wooten Wawen, which is the only one where early masonry can still be seen.

The earliest nunnery in the county may be that set up in Coventry by Osburga, later St Osburg. Nunnery could be misleading for many early monastic establishments in England at this time housed both nuns and monks.

St Osburg’s became a place of pilgrimage as miracles were said to have taken place at St Osburg’s tomb.

In 1016, it was sacked by Danes. When Canute came to the throne he rebuilt many religious houses which he had earlier sacked, including Coventry’s nunnery.

In 1022, he presented the nuns with a sacred relic he had brought back from Rome, the arm of St Augustine. The acquisition of such a relic made the building even more prominent, that is until Earl Leofric and Lady Godiva decided to replace it with a monastery, shortly before 1043.

The siting of the monastery, set in the side of Broadgate Hill at Hill Top is interesting and rather odd, because the hill top, the level ground was supposed to be open at this point in time. Why then wasn’t the church built there, on the site of the present Holy Trinity Church, on ground belonging to the church?

The answer is that Holy Trinity church may have been the site of St Osburg’s Nunnery, and as this building contained holy relics ceremonial procedures would have to be followed for their transfer. Therefore it is likely that St Osburg’s was still in existence during the building of the monastery of St Mary, making the proper transfer of relics simple. Once done, Osburg’s could be converted into the outer chapel of the monastery.

Coventry’s Benedictine Monastery was dedicated by Edsi, Archbishop of Canterbury to God, the Virgin Mary, St Peter, St Osburg and All Saints.

The monastery housed an Abbot and 24 monks and the relics of St Augustine and St Osburg.

Many other relics were added over time, including a fragment of the true cross, milk of Our Lady, and the bones of St George, making Coventry one of England’s forgotten places of pilgrimage.

Lady Godiva took a special interest in the building and endowed it with many gifts. This included her jewellery which she had melted down and re-cast into sacred images.

In 1095, Robert de Limesey, Bishop of Chester obtained custody of the monastery and seeing it was so rich moved his seat from Chester to Coventry. He turned the church into a cathedral. Technically one could now say that Coventry was a city, a civitas.

Limesey, was not the most popular of men. First he broke into the monks’ quarters with armed soldiers and took their valuables, then dismantled some of the monastery’s outbuildings and had the stone and timber taken away to build himself a new home.

Then he turned his attention to the cathedral and scraped 500 marks worth of silver from one beam alone.

Limesey died in 1117 and was buried in the building he had so enthusiastically plundered. In 1184 Henry II gave the bishopric to Hugh de Nonant (also called Novant) and in 1189 King Richard the Lionheart, needing finance for the crusades, sold the priory buildings to Nonant who, unlike many bishops, had an intense hatred of monks. Attacked Nonant moved his seat to Lichfield, acting as a visiting bishop and when the monks tried to stand up to Nonant, he promptly laid charges against them.

On his next visit Nonant was attacked by the monks at the high altar and had his head split with the altar cross.

Nonant laid more charges against the brothers, accusing them of assault and desecration of the church and by order of the Archbishop of Canterbury all the monks were forced out of their church. five years passed before King Richard returned, heard of Nonant’s misdeeds and threw him out of office.

A small group of Coventry monks went to Rome and for two years fought to regain their house, one brother made an eloquent speech before the Pope and won their right to return to Coventry.

The Roman invasion 

IN the period known as the Iron Age, camps began to spring up in the county, at Wappenbury, Oldbury, Corley, Oakley Wood, Beausale, Claverdon, Harborough Banks, Ettington and Warwick.

One Bronze Age leader buried 394 iron currency bars at a re-used camp on Meon Hill.

These tribal leaders sometimes marked out their territory, one such ‘marker’ may be Hob’s Ditch Causeway, a linear earthwork which can be traced three miles from Tanworth-in-Arden.

The Iron Age camp at Wappenbury, remains of which still can be seen, was probably built shortly before the Roman invasion of 43 AD.
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The main Roman routes through the county are the Fosse Way, Watling Street and Ryknield Street. These main routes were intersected by small roads, many of which have now disappeared or are forgotten, but still used.

Warwickshire at this time took in three Celtic tribal areas, those of the Cornovii, in the west, the Coritani, to the north east and the Iceni in the east.

Many of the river names in the county date from this time, among which are names such as Abhainn, for Avon, Samhadh for Sowe, the Leamh, still recognisable today, and the Airgead (Arrow), the Silver River.

In 60 AD the Iceni tribe revolted under the leadership of Boudicca (Boadicea), a theory now existing that the last battle between the Iceni and the legions took place at the Roman site at Mancetter (Manduessedum), in an area called the Field of Chariots.

Here a victorious Celtic army of 100,000, which had laid waste Colchester, London and St Albans, complacently went into battle and were militarily outmanoeuvred and slaughtered by a desperate Roman legion of only 12,000 men.

It is believed that the Lunt Fort outside Coventry was originally built at this time and its rare circular gyruses were used to train captured Celtic horses for battle.

The fort was used on and off until the fourth century and coins of these dates have been unearthed in the centre of Coventry making it likely that a trackway passed through here to the fort. In fact in the 1790s one of the county’s largest hoards of roman coins, nearly 4,000 in all was found near Coventry city centre.

Roman occupation, brought to a degree Roman civilisation and the romanised British are now called Romano-British. They continued living in their villages and in romanised settlements, such as Tripontium (Caves Inn), Venonae (High Cross), Chesterton and the roman town of Alchester (Alauna).

Little of the individuals comes down to us through time, except four names, Attius, Erucanus, Marinus and Coertutinus, not famous soldiers or senators, but potters who marked their work and lived their lives at Wappenbury, making grey pots of various sizes for the use of the Romano-Celtic population of Warwickshire. 

Apart from the known roman sites in the county, such as settlements, forts, staging posts, farms and villas such as Ponce Hill, Radford Semele, there is still a gap in our knowledge of Roman occupation of the county.

The Roman population of Warwickshire is now believed to be greater than it was supposed in the past, as Roman finds from archaeologists and metal detector users continue to be unearthed all over the county, from sites with no known Roman connection.

Our pagan predecessors 
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WHEN the Roman army pulled out of Britain in 410 AD to defend Rome against the Barbarian hoard, things went on much as they were before in the villages and small settlements.

Ancient histories tell us that in 449 AD the Romano-British King Vortigern invited the first Germanic mercenaries to settle and help defend the land, including Warwickshire.

These pagan Angles and Saxons acquired land as a reward and lived and married into the existing Celtic/Romano-British population.

These early Saxon settlers have been unearthed at places such as Stretton-on-Fosse, Baginton, Bidford-on-Avon, Stratford-on-Avon, Emscote, Tiddington and Longbridge.

The Anglo-Saxon settlement was not totally bloodless for histories tell of King Arthur and his fight to hold the kingdom of the Britons.

The legendary king has claimed Warwickshire connections, one says he was Arthal the Bear, of Warwick.

Another recent theory claims there were two Arthurs and one was buried at Atherstone (Athur’s town) and to prove this a fifth century memorial stone has been found there bearing the inscription:

ARTORIU...IACIT IN...MACH...

North-east Warwickshire was part of the kingdom of Mercia and the south-west was the lost kingdom of the Hwicca.

The latter became part of a greater Mercia before the death of pagan King Penda in 654 AD.

One of the most unusual pagan burials in the county was on Mount Pleasant on the Burton Dassett Hills.

Here 35 Saxon burials were found lying head to toe in two trenches. Another discovery, in 1774, was unusual for it consisted of three skulls in a row decorated with jewels and either side of them was a skeleton, one holding a spear, the other a sword.

We still live with a reminder of our pagan Anglo-Saxon ancestors with Tuesday, named after the god Tiw, Wednesday, the god Woden or Odin, Thursday after Thor and Friday after the goddess, Frigga or Freya.
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Probably Warwickshire’s greatest shrine to a pagan god was at Tysoe, in the south of the county, for here cut into the red clay of the hillside of Sunrising Hill, was a huge figure of a horse, sacred to Tiw, god of war.

Like the figures in the south of England the red horse was scoured yearly for centuries before the practice lapsed and the grass overtook the figure, which gave its name to the Vale of the Red Horse.

After Penda’s death, his son Peada allowed Christianity to be established and Saint Chad, a missionary who had travelled the county and traditionally founded a chapel in Coventry was made the first bishop of Mercia in 669, placing his seat at Lichfield. Christianity for many centuries remained a thin veneer on the surface of older beliefs and church edicts continued to be made against the veneration of images, wells, trees and rocks.

Around the year 700 AD one of the re-known sisters of Barking, called Osburga (Osbur) founded a nunnery in Coventry, which was then a small settlement. Osburga after her death was raised to Saint Osburg and miracles were claimed to have taken place at her tomb in the nunnery.

Thereafter she was allocated a special day and her name was continued in the now long gone St Osburg’s Pool and in the name of the great Priory which superseded the nunnery.

One of the greatest Saxon kings was Offa, King of Mercia, he extended the Mercian kingdom from the east coast to his 120-mile long dyke on the Border of Wales. He set up mints in Tamworth and Warwick and Offchurch is said to be named after him.

It is believed Offchurch Bury was built on or near the site of one of his royal palaces. Offa’s son, Fremund was murdered in the district and is believed to have been buried in the village church.

The village also appears once to have been the site of a battle as weapons and mutilated skeletons have been unearthed.

After Offa’s death in 796 AD nine different kings ruled Mercia and in 886 AD the first Danes began to enter the area. Watling Street became the border of the Danelaw, land ceded to the Danes by King Alfred to stop them attacking the south of Britain.

The daughter of Alfred, Ethelflaeda, The Lady of the Mercian’s began the reconquest of the Danelaw in the early 900s and built a series of fortified burghs (towns), including two in Warwickshire, one at Tamworth, which historically lay in Warwickshire and the second called The Dungeon (a corruption of the Norman-French word dojohn meaning fortification) at Warwick, probably on the site of the present castle (Ethelflaeda’s Mound at the castle is actually the Norman castle mound).

The latter part of the 10th century consisted of an uneasy truce with the Danes in the north and a tax on the Saxon people, called Dane Geld amounting to £167,000 to keep the Danes in their own territory. So ends the first millennium.

The heroic Sir Guy
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SIR Guy of Warwick is one of the great legendary heroes of mediaeval England – both Warwick and Coventry have in the past claimed to have been his birthplace.

It is in legend that Guy fell in love with Felice (Phyllis), daughter of the Earl of Warwick, who at first turned him away saying she could not waste herself on ‘inferiors’.

Later after a vision, she changes her view and tells him that she loves him and that he should make his valour more glorious than the sun, to let it shine throughout the world, and she will crown him with her heart, soul and life.

Guy asked for one kiss until he could prove himself worthy of her love. Guy then left the country and landed in Normandy where he saved a wronged woman who was condemned to the stake.

Those who wronged her tried to kill Guy but he being a great hero slew them. After this he took part in a grand tournament for the hand of Blanche, daughter of the Emperor of Almaine.

Guy destroyed all opposition including, it is said, princes and dukes, magicians and enchanters. Despite the fact that Blanche was as beautiful as Felice, Guy returned to Warwick and his true love.

Felice had heard of his deeds, and assured him of her love, adding that the winning of the emperor’s daughter was not enough and he should do greater deeds to prove himself worthy of her love. Guy left once more.

As Guy’s ship lay in port, awaiting a wind for France, news spread throughout the realm of an enormous Dun Cow, which had laid waste two counties and had arrived at Dunsmore Heath in Warwickshire. The great beast was described as being 32 feet high and 40 feet long, with huge pointed horns and red fiery eyes.

Guy dismounted his horse and, being an expert bowman, put arrow to bow and let fly. The arrow slammed into the beast’s side and dropped to the ground, unable to pierce its thick hide.

The Dun Cow roared and thundered towards him, he threw his bow to the ground and drew his axe and stood his ground as the beast slammed into him piercing his armour as he struck the animal a massive blow between the eyes.

Guy struck and struck again, having no effect on the beast. Then one blow, behind the ear made the animal stagger and roar.

Guy seeing this weakness battered her until, with a horrid goad, she expired, deluging Guy in her blood. The great Dun Cow was butchered and eaten by the local population and Guy was knighted and the king ordered that one of the cows ribs should be hung in Warwick Castle.

Also it is said John Kaye, Lord of Stretton-on-Dunsmore was given a rib by Sir Guy. This rib is still in the family home, which is now in Scotland, for it is said that if the rib left the hands of the Kaye family it would die out.

Another rib also hung on Gosford Gate in Coventry, although some claim it to be a bone from a giant boar which Guy killed in Coventry, after its rutting had formed what is now Swanswell (Swinneswell) Pool.

Not yet satisfied with his deeds Guy again went abroad, this time with three knights including Heraud of Arden. He headed for Byzantium and destroyed three Turkish ships and a 50,000-strong army of Turks and Saracens. Here Heraud defeated Elendant and Guy slew Soldan, leader of the opposing forces, and the giant Amarant.

Not having time to wipe the blood off his sword, Guy next saved a lion which was being attacked by a dragon. the Lion thereafter became his companion for some time.

Sir Guy then returned to England and killed a huge bear and another dragon in Northumberland.

Then our illustrious hero headed back to the fair Felice, who now received him as an equal and they were married. Sir Guy, through marriage to Felice, became the Earl of Warwick and their union brought forth a son, Reynbourn who was stolen.
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In his unhappiness Guy decided to go on a pilgrimage to the Holy Land and kill a few people in the process.

During his absence England was ravaged by Danes and Athelstan agreed instead of paying them tribute he would put a champion in personal combat against the Danes champion, one Colbran, a giant pagan warrior.

Athelstan was in a pickle, for Heraud was not to be found as he was seeking Guy’s lost son and Guy, of course, was in the Holy Land, or so he thought. The king however had a dream which told him that if he went to the North Gate of Winchester on a certain morning he would see a man in pilgrim’s garb who would vanquish the Danish champion.

Here he did indeed meet a pilgrim who was in fact Sir Guy who looked ragged, walked barefooted and sported a huge beard.

The king requested that the stranger fight the duel with Colbran for the cause of God’s church and the Christian religion.

The pilgrim said he was weary and not fit to fight, but would do as the king asked. He was taken back to the palace and fed and bathed. On the day appointed, Guy, armed with an axe, St Maurice’s lance and Constantine the Great’s sword, rode forth to a valley called the Chiltecumbe, somewhere outside of Warwick.

Here awaiting him was the giant Colbran, who upon seeing him demanded he submit. Not knowing the meaning of the word, Guy spurred his horse forward piercing the giant’s shield with his lance.

Enraged, the giant responded with a great slash of his axe slicing off the head of Guy’s horse, which dropped to the ground in a heap.

Guy leapt from his dead steed rushed at the giant and tried to strike at his head, finding that he could only reach his shoulder. As the fight progressed Guy knocked the giant’s shield from his hand and as he leant forward to retrieve it Guy cut off his hand. The battle went on into the evening and the two armies watched cheering as their champion struck a blow.

At some point in the proceedings it is said a crow flew at Colbran’s head, distracting him long enough for Guy to strike the winning blow, sending Colbran’s head tumbling to the ground.

The combat ended and Guy revealed his identity to the king, making him promise to keep it a secret. He once again put on his ragged pilgrim’s clothes and returned to Warwick, not to the castle, but to a cave above the River Avon at Gibbcliffe, now known as Guy’s Cliff.

Here he stayed, visiting his own castle and taking alms from his wife, unrecognised, at the castle gate. He lived in the cave for two years until feeling death draw near when he sent his wedding ring to the Lady Felice who came to his side as he died.

In her grief she buried Guy in his cave, and here legend diverges.

One says she was later buried at his side there, the other that she was so grieved at Guy’s death she threw herself into the river below.

The story of Sir Guy first appears in a 13th century manuscript written in the court language of the period, Norman-French. this doesn’t mean that the whole legend originates from that period. It is likely that in this period the romantic and Christian crusading side of the tale was added, plus a few other flourishes.

We hear of the connection of the Dun Cow in 1552, when Dr Caius discussed relics of Sir Guy in his book, De Bonasi Cowbius.

It is possible that the Dun Cow story was known mainly in Warwickshire and therefore didn’t get a mention in the first manuscripts produced in the south. Interestingly the tale of the Dun Cow is not solely located in Warwickshire, for an ancient tale associates its origin at Mitchell’s Fold in Cordon, Shropshire.

Here during a drought, in which the crops failed and the cattle died, a beautiful cow appeared on Cordon Hill and gave its milk to feed the starving populace.

The cow was considered a gift from heaven for if she had not come the people of Cordon would have died.

Meanwhile a witch called Mitchell, from whom the people sought help before the appearance of the cow, fell from favour and driven by jealously resolved to destroy the cow.

One day, the witch joined the people as they took their allowance of one bucket of milk from the cow. She carried a small basin and when all had taken their fill and left she threw aside the basin and took a sieve from under her cloak and began to milk the cow into it.

The witch milked, and milked her until finally the cow ran dry and ran away in terror. It is said that the cow, once ill-used, grew into the raging Dun Cow and desolated Shropshire and Worcestershire before meeting its fate at the hands of Sir Guy of Warwick.

All legends have origins in the mists of time. In the case of Sir Guy of Warwick I believe the origins of the tale date back to Roman Britain to a warrior god favoured by the legions and carried with them throughout the Roman Empire.

This god of warriors and the sun was called Mithras. Mithras was born in a cave on December 25 and was attended by shepherds, his sacred day was Sunday, the day of the Sun and during the Mithraic communion bread and wine were eaten.

Other main days of the god were in April and March (Easter), when initiates into his cult ate round buns with crosses on them, representing the solar disc.

Mithras, it was believed, would have a second coming and would judge mankind as to who was worthy to stay with him. All this may sound very familiar, and no, these are not ceremonies and events taken from Christian doctrine, they are part of the story of Mithras, whose religion originated in Persia, 2000 years before the birth of Christ.

Mithraism was one of the main religions of Rome until Constantine the Great had a vision of a cross in the sky before the Battle of Milvian Bridge, won his battle and then declared Christianity the state religion.

Many of the essential ingredients of Guy’s story are mirrored in the history of Mithras. both men are great warriors, expert bowmen, both kill a giant bull or cow. Both kill giants, Mithras killer of Titans and Guy killer of Amerant and Colbran.

In the case of Colbran, Guy defeats him with the assistance of a crow, the crow in this case a raven, is associated with Mithras as a messenger. Both men have a lion as a companion, Mithras because it is an earth symbol of fire and Guy because he saves it from a Dragon, another symbol of fire, and both killed giant boars.

Finally Guy’s Cave, perched above the Avon, with Guy’s Spring nearby. when the legions set up shrines to Mithras, they followed rules laid down centuries before that Mithraic shrines are housed in natural caves above running water and ideally with a spring nearby.

Also, sometimes, images of Mithras were cut out of the living rock, Guy’s Cliff has the noted eight-foot image of Sir Guy cut from the rock, standing curiously in a pose mirrored by images of Mithras the world over.

Guy’s Cave also appears to have a man-sized recess in it which would have been used as part of the process of initiation into the cult, by placing a man in a grave-like hole.

It also has among centuries of graffiti an inscription, this was translated in the last century as being runic. It is not, it bears more resemblance to roman script and ITSU, Lord and Mitris, Mithras can be seen.

It is thought that on the promotion of Christianity all Mithraic shrines were destroyed. The shrine’s attendant priest, if he chose to stay, was murdered and buried within the caves to desecrate them. Guy himself we are told was buried within the cave. So there we have it, the origin of Sir Guy.

St George & the dragon
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SAINT George of England, we are informed, was not English at all; he was either a man called Nestor who was put to death in Lydda for tearing down a proclamation against Christianity.

Or, possibly, he was the Bishop of Alexandria, a man who gained an awful reputation and was beaten to death by a frenzied mob.

That is all that is known, everything else relating to these figures was added later and for many years now the Vatican have demoted our national saint to a mere local one.

St George is notable for the many ways he was supposed to have died, including decapitation, roasting, being whipped to death, drowned or crushed.

At Lillington in Warwickshire, it is said George was buried with an oak stake through his heart. the stake grew into the once famed Lillington Oak, which also claimed to be the centre of England.

The cult of St George appears to have originated abroad and first began to show in England in the 8th century and reached its peak in 1319 Edward III made George England’s patron saint.

As battle cries of St George and England led armies into France, it is not surprising that George’s foreign origins were dropped and a new legend created around him, making him the ultimate English knight, not a foreigner, but born in Coventry, Warwickshire, England.

The legend of our St George begins at Caludon Castle. Here lived Lord Albert.

The tale tells of Lord Albert having a beautiful wife who was carrying her first child when she had a terrible dream concerning the birth. Lord Albert wished to learn the meaning of the dream and visited a yew grove in the forest, the home of the ‘wyrd’ woman Kalyb. Kalyb informed him that his wife would die giving birth and his son would bear the mark of the dragon.

Lord Albert returned to Caludon to find his household in grief, the child was born and his lady lay dead.

As he grieved that night Kalyb entered the castle by magic and took the child. Lord Albert is said to have spent his last years in search of his child before leaving England and dying on a foreign shore.

From a babe to the age of 21, Kalyb raised George, she taught him to fight and as a sideline continued to abduct babies and kill them.
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Now accomplished in arms George yearned for adventure, but Kalyb wished him to stay and sought to tempt him with gifts. First she transported him to a golden castle in which were imprisoned in sleep St David of Wales, St Patrick of Ireland, St Andrew of Scotland, St Dennis of France, St James of Spain and St Anthony of Italy.

These he was informed were the six Champions of Christendom and if he stayed he could become the seventh. George could not be tempted.

She then showed him seven beautiful white horses, the swiftest called Bayard, George was offered him but refused.

Then she gave him armour and the magical sword Ascalon. George still refused to stay.

Lastly, in desperation Kalyb offered him her wand of yew, this George took, struck it against a rock, which split revealing a cave full of Kalyb’s young victims, he pushed her into the cave and sealed it, trapping her forever.

He released the Champions of Christendom and together they rode to Coventry.

Here they stayed for nine months, honing their skills in combat, before setting off south. They rode to a plain, in the centre of which was a golden pillar at the junction of seven roads.

Here the knights said their farewells and each took a road.

George took the road for the coast and boarded a ship which took him to Egypt. here he fought a dragon which had terrorised the land for 24 years.

This deed won him the hand of the King of Egypt’s daughter, the Princess Sabra. George was the toast of the royal court until the king learned that he intended to take Sabra back to England and make her a Christian. The king thereafter plotted George’s death.

He asked George to prove his love for his daughter by carrying out a task without his horse and sword, he was to make the dangerous journey to Persia and deliver a message to the king. Against all odds George completed the task only to discover that the letter’s message was that the bearer be put to death.

George was seized and thrown in a dungeon with two lions. Enraged by his treatment he tore the chains from the wall and rammed his fist down the lions’ throats, tearing out their hearts. Phew!

George escaped by scraping mortar away and loosening stones, then stole a horse and rode off. George then set off on other adventures, before returning to claim Princess Sabra, who he discovered had been promised in his absence to King Almidor of Morocco.

George dressed as a hermit and went to the palace where the princess was distributing alms.

The princess recognised him and took him back to the palace to reunite him with his horse, Bayard and Ascalon, his sword. They both rode off to Greece where they discovered a grand tournament was underway and all the Champions of Christendom were present with their ladies.

Each had won his trial with sword and lance and all appeared well until heralds came and proclaimed a war against Christianity.

On hearing the proclamation the champions mounted their horses and headed back to their homelands to raise armies to crush those who threatened the faith. Finally the war was won and Christianity reigned.

The Champions chose George to rule the east, as King of Egypt, Emperor of Morocco and Sultan of Persia.

George ruled for many years and, leaving trusted friends as regents, returned home to England, to Coventry.

Legend here splits and two stories survive regarding his return, one states that while abroad he heard that the people of Coventry were being terrorised by a dragon which had come out of a huge cavern (traditionally below Priory Row/Hill Top).

George returned, fought a savage battle with the great beast and killed it, but he himself died from wounds.

St George we are told, had sons and died in Coventry on April 23 and was laid to rest here. It is said the colour he favoured was true blue and as the native bluebell came into flower around his day, people for centuries after wore the bluebell as his emblem on St George’s Day.

Another flower thought to mark Coventry as St George’s home was the Coventry Bell, described by the herbalist Gerard in the 16th century as being of a blew purple colour and found especially about Coventry where they grew plentifully.

Coventry’s well known image of Peeping Tom is thought to have originally been the figure of St George and now stands in the heart of Coventry, where English mediaeval legend says he lies.

Leofric - Warlord & Visionary 
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IN the year 1000 Warwickshire was well settled and cultivated, the county had over 100 more villages than exist today. These small settlements lived under a strict social code called feudalism.

The ruling class was the ealdorman and thanes. There were freeholders, holding their own land and other freemen such as tradesmen, craftsmen, merchants and clergy.

Below that the population consisted of serfs bonded to the lord and his land.

The king was Aethelred the Unready (Unraed, meaning ill-advised), an ineffective but long-reigning king who failed to solve the Danish problem and continued paying them to stop them attacking the south of England.

Aethelred ordered the massacre of the Danes on St Brices Day in 1002.

This was commemorated by the once well known Hox Tuesday Play performed anciently in Coventry.

This event provoked the invasion of England by King Sweyn and Thorkell the Tall. Aethelred fled but later returned.

Into this world Leofric and Godiva were born. Leofric (Leof-dear, ric=ruler) was the third son of Leofwine, ealdorman of the Hwicca.

As both his elder brothers were killed in battle Leofric succeeded his father, around the year in 1024. He describes himself as ‘Dux’ warlord in 1026.

Being a nobleman of some note he soon became a close confidante of King Canute and acquired the title Earl of Mercia, making him one of the three most powerful men in Saxon England.

Leofric, worked hard to keep the balance of power in the land, defending Edward the Confessor against the plots of the powerful Earl Godwin.

Leofric was the power behind the succession of Harold I in 1035 and supported Hardicanute by putting down a revolt against him in Worcestershire, practically massacring the whole population of Worcester itself.

Despite this harder side to Leofric he was noted as a pious, fair man, considered by many a saint for at the Chapel of Our Lady at Westminster, he with Edward the Confessor saw a vision of Christ reflected in a mirror held by the chaplain.

In 1057 the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle records that, ‘In this same year, on October 30, Earl Leofric passed away. He was very wise in all matters, both religious and secular, that benefitted this nation.’

Leofric was brought from his hall in King’s Bromley to Coventry to the monastery of St Mary, St Osburg and All Saints which he and Godiva had founded and here his body was laid to rest with great pomp and ceremony.

Leofric’s wife, Godiva (Godgifu – God’s Gift) is one of the most famous women in the world, a name that has lasted the millennium.

She was the sister of Thorold, Sheriff of Lincolnshire, and her parentage is unknown. Godiva was widowed around the year 1028 and it is believed she suffered an illness which she considered would be fatal, because at the time she was in communication with the Abbott of Ely and bequested property to the church, to ensure her place in heaven.She survived her illness and married Leofric, now Earl of Mercia possibly around 1035, when she was already a wealthy landowner.

In looks Godiva is generally noted as being beautiful – the chronicler Ingulphus of Croyland describes her as the most beauteous of all women of her time. Praise indeed.

Her close call with death enforced Godiva’s religious beliefs and devotion to the Virgin Mary, much to the benefit of various religious establishments around the country. She and Leofric owned Coventry and much of the county and visited Coventry on a regular basis. The monastery they founded in Coventry in 1045 benefitted from endowments made by both. Godiva had her jewellery melted down and recast into religious images for the church founded in the name of her favourite deity.

When Leofric died Godiva appears to have moved to Evesham, and endowed the church of the Holy Trinity and the monastery, now gone.

Godiva stayed at the monastery and witnessed the destruction of her world after William the Conqueror destroyed the last Saxon king, Harold, on Senlac Hill in Hastings.

Here in Evesham on September 10, 1067 Godiva died and as she is estimated to have been born on the turn of the millennium, she would have been around 67 years of age. Godiva was buried in Evesham Abbey and although there is no historical evidence tradition has always stated that she was later re-interred in Coventry in the choir, opposite Leofric.

On her death she ordered that her gold-jewelled chain be placed around the neck of the image of the Virgin in St Mary’s, Coventry. those who came to pray she stated, should say a prayer for every stone in the chain.

Leofric and Godiva had one son – it was claimed in the past that Hereward the Wake was also their son but this has long since been dismissed.

Their only son was Aelfgar (Elf-spear), he became Earl of Mercia on Leofric’s death in 1057 until his death in 1062. He was considered a womaniser and warrior, and was always being out-lawed, being considered a threat to the peace of the realm. Not averse to killing monks, he was apparently loved by those he governed. On his death he was interred in Coventry.

Ceremony of the Wrothsilver 
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ONE thousand years ago on November 11 as the morning sun broke, a group of people stood huddled around an old hollow stone on Knightlow Hill, near Ryton on Dunsmore.

Here they performed a ceremony which still goes on to this day – almost uninterrupted for 1000 years. it is known as Wroth Silver.

The ceremony as it exists now is based on payments placed in the hollow stone with the words Wroth Silver by member villages of the Knightlow Hundred.

The money is collected by the agent of the Duke of Buccleach, lord of the manor. Those who do not pay a set fee are fined 20 shillings for every penny, or a white bull with red nose and red ears.

After the ceremony is over the payee’s head for the local inn where toasts are made with milk and rum and a substantial breakfast is provided.

The origin of the Wroth Silver ceremony is lost in time, some say the word wroth is derived from wroth meaning roadway, others suggest the more likely Rother hryder, which means cattle money.

The ancient connection to cattle is also seen in the white bull fine and the milk drinking ceremony. There are many important aspects to this ancient ceremony which suggest that it was taking place long before the last millennium began.

The actual stone used stands in the centre of a 30-foot square mound, long thought to be an ancient tumulus or burial mound. Warwickshire’s great 17th century historians believed the mound to be a warriors grave. Some have suggested that here lies the Danish giant warrior, Colbran who was decapitated in single combat by our own Guy of Warwick.

On top of the mound is a stone, very worn and misshapen and about 30 inches square at the top, with a deep rounded hollow in its centre.

Many have suggested in the past that it is the base of a mediaeval wayside cross and claim it shows a mason’s mark, a rough cross carved into it. I am inclined to believe that, as it is part of a ceremony that long precedes the mediaeval period, the stone was placed where it is purely for ceremonial purposes far in the distant past.

I believe the wroth silver ceremony began many centuries before the year 1000 and later additions have to be cut away to find its original meaning.

The main parts of the ceremony are basically that it takes place as the sun rises, offerings are given and cattle and milk are involved. This is suggestive of Bronze Age or Celtic society when cattle were of prime importance.

November 11, St Martin’s Day is the eve of the old Celtic Samhain when the cattle were brought down from the hills for winter and the excess stock were slaughtered. it also marks what became known as the Halcyon Days, the summer days when unseasonably the sun made a brief reappearance, before its decline into winter.

Cattle and the sun have historically a connection with world religions going back to ancient Egypt, where Hathor was goddess of cattle and the sun.

In the Canary Islands people gave offerings to a similar goddess by pouring milk into hollow stones. Nearer to home in Scotland milk was poured into special stones called Leac an Grugach or Dobby Stones. This was an offering to Gruac, the goddess who protects cattle.

Armed with this knowledge I believe the wroth Silver ceremony began life as a pre-christian ceremony connected to cattle and Samhain, the busiest time of the Celtic year concerning their cattle and lighting fires to encourage the return of the sun.

Offerings were made of milk and cattle money into the stone which bears the cross and as the sun rose the giver circled the stone three times sunwise – the magic number and the way of the sun.

This ceremony to the goddess of cattle and sun would ensure that the surviving cattle were protected over winter and breed well in spring, at the sun’s rebirth.

Finally the fine last imposed in 1893, is of a white bull with red ears and a red nose. The bull, symbol of fertility and the sun, in this instance is what became known as faerie cattle, a rare breed of wild white cattle, domesticated by the Celts which almost disappeared with the Celts except for one herd which has been kept within the walled park of Chillingham Castle in Northumberland for over 700 years.

Kings of the Castles 

Coventry Castle
Coventry, once had its own castle, a fact few know about and others find hard to believe, mainly because there appears to be no existing remains.

Coventry Castle began life during the Baron’s War, this 18-year-old civil war began after the death of Henry I in 1135, when Henry’s nephew, Stephen of Blois, seized the throne and Henry’s daughter, Matilda, claimed it, forcing a split in the baron’s allegiance.

It is during this period, most likely in 1139, that Ranulf Gernons, Earl of Chester, who had inherited part of Coventry, came to what was then a substantial settlement with a monastery and forced the population to construct a motte and bailey castle, with wooden tower and stockade.

The bailey is believed to have been in the area marked by the present Bayley Lane and Earl Street and the motte in High Street, Pepper Lane and Hay Lane. The entrance to this castle may have been from Broadgate.
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The first to take on Coventry’s new castle was Robert Marmion, Earl of Tamworth, a supporter of Stephen.

Marmion arrived in late August 1143, threw the monks out of the monastery and began to fortify the building and dig ditches and mantraps in the area between the monastery and castle.

In 1936, when the area in front of the monastery/priory was being excavated a group of skeletons were found, buried huddled against a wall. all had been put to the sword.

Once dug in, Marmion waited for the Earl of Chester’s men to come and fight, but nothing happened, so he took to a daily routine of riding out alone and parading defiantly before the castle.

This was all very well until one day, quite unexpectedly, Chester’s men suddenly poured forth from the stockade, sending Marmion, alone, scurrying back to the monastery and his men.

In his panic however, it is said Marmion rode his horse into one of his own mantraps and was decapitated by a common footsoldier.

In 1145 the tables turned and Ranulf Gernons was taken prisoner by King Stephen. In the following year Gernons surrendered his castles and thus gained his freedom. Within a short time he had gathered a force and sought to retake his castle of Coventry.

Meanwhile, King Stephen was heading for Coventry and some of Ranulf’s forces rode off to attack the King’s forces.

The earl’s men took some of the king’s men prisoner and put others to flight. King Stephen himself was injured and for a short time put out of action.

The king, however, prevailed and Ranulf was forced to withdraw. It is believed after this Stephen ordered the first Coventry Castle flattened.

Ranulf Gernons was later poisoned and his land inherited by his son, Hugh Keviloc (named after Cyvelioc in Wales, where he was born), Earl of Chester. Hugh Keviloc rebuilt his father’s castle sometime in the 1150s.

Norman castles of this period were normally built in square keeps of stone, with no motte and there is no reason to suppose that the second phase of Coventry Castle wasn’t built thus.

The entrance to this castle was definitely from the top of Broadgate, as Earl Hugh’s charter which could have been written any time between 1160 and 1176 refers to latam portam mei castelli, the Broadgate of my Castle, from which Broadgate gets its name.

This castle probably lay mainly within the Bayley Lane/Earl Street area, for John Stowe in the 16th century described ruins of a fortlet or pile standing in Earls Street.

St Mary’s Guildhall, which stands within the castle site is very interesting for much of it appears to be built of robbed stone, having a mix of old red and ashler grey sandstone in no order.

Significantly, large stones, which are normally found at the base of the building, can be found near the top of the Great Hall. were these re-used stones from the ruined castle which stood at the rear of the building?

Caesar’s Tower is also very interesting, for apart from the fact that its name is derived from a Castle tower, when the base of it was excavated in 1900 it was found to be of Norman origin. It is not unknown for mediaeval buildings to have towers at the rear, it is however normal for them to be square. Caesar’s Tower isn’t, it is wedge shaped.

This is interesting because following the alignment of the castle entrance from Broadgate, across the ditch under the present Hay Lane, the castle entrance towers must have been in this area.

If we mirror the shape of Caesar’s Tower, we can create a funnel entrance, basic, military architecture, creating a killing zone (incidentally two skeletons were found in this area in 1900). Originally the tower was four storeys with embattlements on top. These were already fairly ruinous in 1471 when they were repaired.

The last mention of the second phase of Coventry Castle was in a charter written between 1200 and 1210, when its then owner Ranulf Blundeville, Earl of Chester forbids the constables of Coventry from bringing burghers into the castle to plead their causes.

Coventry Castle appears to have disappeared around 1216, probably by order of King John who at this time was re-fortifying Kenilworth.

Kenilworth Castle
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Kenilworth, that grand ruin, like Warwick is claimed to have originated as a Roman camp, which was adapted and enlarged in Saxon times.

If this is true or not we will never probably known, but it definitely was constructed as a motte and bailey by King’s Chamberlain, Geoffrey de Clinton around the year 1116.
It was this Geoffrey who also founded the priory at Kenilworth. The first castle was much smaller than Brinklow, its bailey being only about 200 feet across. The early wooden castle was replaced by one of stone late in the 12th century, by Geoffrey’s son, also called Geoffrey.

The new stone keep was so strong that it now constitutes one of the largest surviving pieces of the present castle.

This Geoffrey conveyed the castle to Henry II in about 1165, and it remained in the king’s hands until it was returned to Geoffrey de Clinton who held it until around 1180.

In the reign of King John, Henry de Clinton, grandson of the first Geoffrey gave the castle to the king.

John stayed there five times and while ordering the destruction of other castles, such as Coventry, so they could not be held against him, he spent money on Kenilworth, re-walling the outer court and adding towers such as Lunn’s tower.

Henry III did not often visit Kenilworth, but ordered many improvements in 1241, including, the building of a chapel, the Water Tower and Mortimers Tower.

Also around this time it is believed the Great Lake, half a mile long and a quarter of a mile wide, was formed by damming the river and flooding the meadows. Thereafter the great Tiltyard took visitors across the lake into the castle. This addition made Kenilworth one of the greatest castles in the realm.

In 1244, the notable Simon de Montfort, Earl of Leicester and husband of Eleanor, the king’s sister was made governor of the castle. Simon de Montfort became one of England’s most famed knights.

Warwick Castle
After the Battle of Hastings the Normans built motte and bailey castles on 15 known sites in the county.

Their presence was to control the local population and instil the Norman presence on the English countryside and its Saxon population.

One of the first of these castles to be built in the county was on Aethelfleda’s old burgh site at Warwick, traditionally said to be the site of a Roman fort set up by Agricola, around 79ad.

In 1066 it was held for the King, by Turchil, sometimes called Earl of Warwick. Turchil became known as the Traitor Earl for unlike most Saxon nobles he did not join Harold, at Hastings, instead he stayed at Warwick extending his fortifications.

After the conquest, William the Conqueror decided to allow Turchil to continue at Warwick and ordered him to further enlarge the fortification, dig a ditch around the town and build two gates. This he did over the following two years. Then, satisfied with his work and assured he had survived the conquest, he put his feet up only to find that William the Bastard (as he was known to the native population) had given his title and castle to one of his Norman knights, called Henry de Newburgh. Newburgh built the motte there wrongly called Aethefleda’s Mound.

The Newburgh’s held the castle for nearly 200 years and made few alterations to it. they did however found St Mary’s Church in the town and build a Templar Chapel, in what is now the Great Park.

They also built a Hospital for the Knights of St John on the site of the present St John’s House. In the reign of King Stephen (1135-1154), Gundreda, Countess of Warwick, the widow of Roger de Newburgh, drove the king’s soldiers from the castle and gave it over to Henry Duke of Normandy, who later became Henry II.

In 1242 the Newburgh dynasty as earls of Warwick came to an end when John de Plessetis married Margery de Newburgh, the title was held by that family for 20 years.

Tamworth Castle
Tamworth Castle, anciently in Warwickshire was also built around the conquest period as was Brinklow’s Castle.
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Brinklow Castle, known as Brinklow Tump, appears to have been built on top of an already existing burial mound.

The Romans skirted it with the Fosse Way, not wishing to disturb a possible sacred site.

The Norman’s however had no such qualms and their re-use of ancient burial sites, by heaping more earth upon them, may explain the county’s apparent shortage of such sites.

Brinklow Castle is one of the finest remaining examples of an early Norman motte and bailey castle site in the country.

The motte (castle mound) is 40 feet high and 60 foot across the top, where the wooden keep would have stood. The bailey (lower fenced enclosure) measures 400 feet by 500 feet and is separated into two sections, giving the availability of falling back into a secondary defensive position should the first fail.

Despite its condition little or nothing is known about the castle’s origins.

Dig reveals life after Romans  

A GROUP of Canadian students excavating the site of the Roman Lunt fort at Baginton, near Coventry, have found evidence of a mediaeval settlement that flourished after the Romans left.

Archaeologists have always known that the modern re-constructed fort stands on a site which dates back to at least 60 AD.

It was likely to have been used as a supply base during the final campaign against Queen Boudicca, who many experts believe made her last stand at Mancetter, in north Warwickshire.

But pottery fragments and large mediaeval post holes have been unearthed by the 30-strong Canadian team, all of which indicate a settlement - or even another fortification.

City archaeologist Paul Thompson said: "This is an exciting discovery and adds another dimension to this site.

"We already know there is a Saxon cemetery in Baginton which came after the Roman occupation. We must now also look at the Lunt in relation to the mediaeval people who followed on and perhaps also lived there."

Professor Tony Barrett of the University of British Columbia, in Vancouver, has been leading holiday excavation trips to Baginton for the past 12 years.

He said: "We have found a post-Roman ditch filled with lots of mediaeval pottery and what seem to be substantial holes in the ground which could have been cattle sheds or workshops, or even some sort of fortification.

"We know that there was a Saxon settlement, because there is a graveyard, and so it is not impossible there was a later settlement after 1066 and before the 1500s."

Professor Barrett said that although a rampart system on the western side of the reconstructed fort has been discovered, actual Roman finds have been thin on the ground over the three weeks of the dig, which ended on Friday.

But 22-year-old Melissa Edgar did uncover a Nero's head coin dating to 65 AD - one of only four discovered in the past 12 years.

This will eventually go on show in the Herbert Art Gallery and Museum.

And Andrea Paras, aged 21, was loosening soil with her specialist hand pick when she unearthed a fragment of Roman Samian pottery.
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